RECEIVED

Jan 22 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Williamsburg County

R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RONALD BROWN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001784

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred where it refused to charge the jury on defense of others, where Appellant Brown testified he returned fire to prevent the decedent from shooting towards Appellant's children, since the court must give a defense of others charge where there is evidence adduced at trial that the defendant was acting in defense of others?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the January term of 2018, a Williamsburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 426 - 427. Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., and a jury, from September 30 – October 3, 2019. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Grant Smalldone. R. 1. The State was represented by Warren Anderson and Ernest Finney, III. R. 1.

Appellant was found not guilty of murder but he was found guilty of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter and guilty of the weapon charge. R. 416, ll. 13-20. The court sentenced Appellant to serve consecutive terms of imprisonment for eighteen years for voluntary manslaughter and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 423, l. 24 – 424, l. 4.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Generally, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. *State v. Burkhart*, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002). “The law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial.” *Douglas v. State*, 332 S.C. 67, 73, 504 S.E.2d 307, 310 (1998). “[I]n order for the trial court to give a defense of others charge, there must be some evidence adduced at trial that the defendant was indeed lawfully defending others.” *State v. Starnes*, 340 S.C. 312, 323, 531 S.E.2d 907, 913 (2000). “To warrant reversal, a trial judge’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” *Burkhart*, 350 S.C. at 261, 565 S.E.2d at 303. “An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge’s decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010).

“If there is any evidence to support a jury charge, the trial judge should grant the request.” *State v. Brown*, 362 S.C. 258, 262, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 2004). “However, [the court is] not confined to the State’s version of the facts. The law to be charged is determined by the evidence presented at trial.” *State v. Gourdine*, 322 S.C. 396, 398, 472 S.E.2d 241, 241 (1996); *see also State v. Sales*, 285 S.C. 113, 114, 328 S.E.2d 619, 620 (1985) (holding trial court erred in charging duty to retreat where appellant claimed right of self-defense through doctrine of defense of others).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred where it refused to charge the jury on defense of others, where Appellant Brown testified he returned fire to prevent the decedent from shooting towards Appellant's children, since the court must give a defense of others charge where there is evidence adduced at trial that the defendant was acting in defense of others.

The trial court must give a jury instruction when, in the light most favorable to the defendant, there is any evidence to support the charge. Appellant Brown testified he shot back at the decedent to keep the decedent from continuing to fire in the direction of Brown's children. The court's refusal to instruct the jury on defense of others was error since Brown's testimony was evidence he was acting in defense of another.

Relevant facts

In 2017, the appellant, Ronald Brown, was in his forties with no criminal record. He worked at a charcoal plant in Lake City and was married with two small children—an infant and a toddler. His lawyer would later say Brown, who was called “Junior,” was no “Harvard graduate” but he loved his kids. R. 300, l. 7 – 319, l. 7; R. 34, ll. 1-2; R. 423, ll. 13-14; R. 374, ll. 24-25; R. 97, ll. 19-22.

On October 20, 2017, Brown went to the White Oak community to sell Anne and Quamella McCormick charcoal for a family reunion. Brown's wife was with him and their children were also in the car. Brown gave the McCormicks the charcoal and was paid. R. 97, l. 13 – 103, l. 11. However, before he could leave, his car was blocked in by Matthews Cooper, who was also known as “Tweety,” and Cooper's friend Neil. R. 305, l. 10 – 306, l. 8. The day would see Cooper dead and Brown charged with murder.

Brown testified that he had owed Cooper (Decedent) ten dollars for marijuana for a week or two, and that when Decedent and Neil appeared, Decedent threatened Brown that he “gone ‘f’ me up.” Brown offered to pay Decedent the money but Neil stepped in and hit Brown. Decedent then hit Brown again, and a fight ensued. Neil retrieved a gun and the two men demanded all of Brown’s money. Brown explained the two men passed the gun back and forth between them, saying, “Who gonna to shoot him.” Brown said he gave them all of his money, which was about one hundred and ninety dollars. The men told Brown he had “ten seconds to get up outta there or they gonna kill me.” R. 306, l. 11 – 309, l. 21.

A number of people saw the fight, and Brown’s wife asked Quamella McCormick to take their kids away into the house, away from the fight. Quamella was already holding the baby and took the toddler too. R. 169, l. 22 – 170, l. 7; R. 109, l. 13 – 110, l. 3.

Brown obeyed the men’s command to leave and said he “hog-tailed” it to his car and drove away with his wife but quickly noticed his children were no longer in the car. R. 310, ll. 5-10. Brown was upset, “because if they are doing this over \$10 – over \$10 – trying to kill me over \$10, they gone crazy. I just kinda figured this is, I gots to go get my children.” R. 310, ll. 19-22. Because Decedent had a gun and threatened to kill Brown moments before, Brown had his wife pull over and he got his .40 caliber pistol out of the trunk and put it in his pants. “Why did I get the gun? Because I was scared they might, for my safety and my kids safety, that’s the only reason.” R. 311, l. 13 – 312, l. 16.

Brown said when he pulled back up, “I’m looking to see if that car that Neil and [Decedent] was in was there, and it wasn’t there. So I thought, I said, thank God. Everything is cool . . .” Brown saw a McCormick girl with one of his children. “I told my old lady go get my child, go get the kids so she – and I’m gone get two cigarettes from Freddie.” R. 314, ll. 10-25.

But, as he walked through the yard, Brown said Decedent “pops up like a jack-o’-lantern and fires on me. Pow! Bullet flies past my face.” Brown knelt down, got his gun out and fired back because one of his children was being brought out. “I come up, the other sister was walking my child up that way **when he fired and my child could’ve got hit at that time . . . So I fired to try to get him back from shooting, shooting that way** – in case he might shoot –” R. 315, ll. 2-19 (emphasis added).

Brown said Decedent shot at him first, after saying, “Yeah, what’s up now?”

[H]e shot at me first. I didn’t see it coming. He could’ve hit, he could’ve hit my child actually because the way he was standing and the way I’m walking to the driveway and my child is coming from straight ahead and they got my child in her hand, in they hand and they walking straight ahead. If I would’ve – if they would’ve been walking faster he definitely would got hit, somebody would’ve got hit. She would’ve got hit or my child, one of the two.

R. 316, ll. 16-17; R. 318, ll. 7-14 (emphasis added).

Brown said he returned fire on Decedent “to tried to get him away, tried to get him away from, um, from where my children – shooting that way where my children out.” R. 318, ll. 16-23 (emphasis added). After shooting, Brown ran back to his car and drove off, feeling it was “too chaotic” to try to get the kids after all. (His mother or sister eventually picked them up later.) R. 320, l. 16 – 321, l. 6; R. 348, ll. 24-25; R. 119, ll. 13-18.

Decedent ran into a field, where he collapsed and died in the arms of Anne McCormick, who told Investigator Kennedy she held Decedent’s hand while he died. Decedent had passed away by the time first responders arrived. R. 117, l. 2 – 118, l. 15; R. 210, l. 14 – 211, l. 25. When police officers rolled over Decedent’s body, they found a revolver with three spent shells inside it underneath his body. R. 203, l. 20 – 204, l. 6. Decedent’s hands were checked for gunshot residue but none was found. However, Jennifer Nates, a SLED officer who was

qualified as an expert in trace evidence, said that blood pouring onto Decedent's hands from his wound or McCormick holding his hand could have removed any gunshot residue. R. 245, ll. 7-15; R. 247, ll. 8-12; R. 256, l. 1 – 257, l. 25; R. 266, l. 6 – 267,

State's witnesses corroborated parts of Brown's story and disagreed with parts of Brown's explanation, but no one saw all of the shots being fired. R. 115, l. 4 – 116, l. 18; R. 157, l. 16 – 158, l. 6; R. 173, l. 3 – 174, l. 25.

During the charge conference, defense counsel asked that, in addition to a charge on self-defense, the jury be charged on defense of others. Defense counsel argued that Brown's testimony about fearing for the "safety of his children" supported such a charge. R. 354, ll. 6-14.

However, the trial court denied the request. "[T]here's no testimony that [Decedent] was anywhere in aggressive towards his children. The fact that his children may have been shot as an innocent bystander, I don't think, qualifies for the defense of others. He was defending himself." R. 354, ll. 20-24. The court continued, "[T]here's no testimony that he drove up and somehow his children were in harm, that may be what his thought process that they've may been hit by a bullet, but he's defending himself because he's the one getting shot [a]t. There's nothing in the record that there's any animosity towards those children, they[re] tiny little children." R. 355, ll. 10-16.

The jury deliberated for a little less than two hours and it asked to be recharged on the elements of self-defense and on the lesser offense of voluntary manslaughter. R. 412, l. 7 – 416, l. 5. Appellant was convicted of voluntary manslaughter and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. He was sentenced to imprisonment for eighteen years and five years, terms to be served consecutively. R. 416, ll. 13-20; R. 423, l. 24 – 424, l. 4.

Discussion

There was evidence presented at trial that Brown acted in defense of his child. The court's failure to charge the jury on defense of others was error here. "The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial." *State v. Hill*, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). "A request to charge a correct statement of the law on an issue raised by the indictment and the evidence presented at trial should not be refused." *State v. Austin*, 299 S.C. 456, 458, 385 S.E.2d 830, 831 (1989). "If there is any evidence to support a jury charge, the trial judge should grant the request." *State v. Brown*, 362 S.C. 258, 262, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 2004). When reviewing the trial court's refusal to deliver a requested jury instruction, appellate courts must consider the evidence in a light most favorable to the defendant. *State v. Williams*, 400 S.C. 308, 314, 733 S.E.2d 605, 608-09 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing *State v. Cole*, 338 S.C. 97, 101, 525 S.E.2d 511, 512-13 (2000)).

"Under the theory of defense of others, one is not guilty of taking the life of an assailant who assaults a friend, relative, or bystander if that friend, relative, or bystander would likewise have the right to take the life of the assailant in self-defense." *State v. Starnes*, 340 S.C. 312, 322-23, 531 S.E.2d 907, 913 (2000) (citing *State v. Long*, 325 S.C. 59, 480 S.E.2d 62 (1997)). "To establish self-defense, the defendant must establish (1) he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) he actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief; and (4) he had no other probable means of avoiding the danger." *State v. Long*, 325 S.C. at 62, 480 S.E.2d at 63 (citing *State v. Bruno*, 322 S.C. 534, 473 S.E.2d 450 (1996)).

In *Starnes*, 340 S.C. at 323, 531 S.E.2d at 913, the Supreme Court found the defendant was not entitled to a charge on defense of others because Starnes did “not suggest he shot” in order to protect another. The Supreme Court in *Starnes* cited *State v. Alford*, 264 S.C. 26, 212 S.E.2d 252 (1975),¹ for the holding that a defendant is not entitled to a defense of others charge “where defendant did not testify he was shooting for a purpose other than to protect himself . . .” *Id.* “[I]n order for the trial court to give a defense of others charge, there must be some evidence adduced at trial that the defendant was indeed lawfully defending others.” *Douglas v. State*, 332 S.C. 67, 73, 504 S.E.2d 307 (1998). Here, Brown testified he shot for a purpose other than to protect himself—he said he shot to protect his child.

Brown said he retrieved his gun out of concern for his own safety and the safety of his children. However, Brown testified that he shot Decedent to keep Decedent’s bullets from hitting his child. Brown said that he returned fire on Decedent “to tried to get him away, tried to get him away from, um, from where my children – shooting that way where my children out.” R. 318, ll. 16-23. Brown said Decedent shot at him first, and he shot back to draw fire away from his child, who was being brought outside at the time. “I come up, the other sister was walking my child up that way when he fired and **my child could’ve got hit at that time . . . So I fired to try to get him back from shooting, shooting that way . . .**” R. 315, ll. 2-19 (emphasis added). Brown’s testimony was evidence that he acted in defense of others and the trial court’s failure to charge the jury on this defense was error. *Douglas*, 332 S.C. at 73, 504 S.E.2d at 307.

Although the trial court here charged the jury on self-defense, it did not instruct the jury that “under the law of self-defense, a person may not only take life in his own defense but also in defense of a relative.” *State v. Sales*, 285 S.C. at 114, 328 S.E.2d at 620. *See also State v. Norris*,

¹ *overruled on other grounds by State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009).

253 S.C. 31, 38, 168 S.E.2d 564, 567 (1969) (“The right of the father to defend his daughter is coextensive with the right of the daughter to defend herself.”) The trial court erred when it refused to instruct the jury on defense of others since Brown’s testimony was evidence that acted in the defense of another. The deprivation of a correct, applicable instruction on this defense was error. *Douglas*, 332 S.C. at 73, 504 S.E.2d 307; *Brown*, 362 S.C at 262, 607 S.E.2d at 95.

“[T]o warrant reversal, a trial judge’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” *State v. Burkhart*, 350 S.C. 252, 263, 565 S.E.2d 298, 304 (2002). “Failure to give requested jury instructions is not prejudicial error where the instructions given afford the proper test for determining the issues.” *Id.* at 263, 565 S.E.2d at 304. Here, Appellant was prejudiced since the court failed to instruct the jury that under the theory of defense of others, one is not guilty of taking the life of an assailant who assaults another if the other would likewise have the right to take the life of the assailant in self-defense. *Starnes*, 340 S.C. at 322-23, 531 S.E.2d at 913.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument, Appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse his convictions and sentences and remand for a new trial.