RECEIVED
Jan 27 2021
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Williamsburg County
Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

RONALD BROWN,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2019-001784

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

215 N. Harvin St.
Sumter, SC 29150
(803) 436-2185

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

R. p. 315, lines 2-14. Brown testified that before Victim shot at him, Victim said, "Yeah, what's up now?" R. p. 316, lines 16-19. Brown subsequently explained further:

Yes, he shot at me first. I didn't see it coming. He could've hit, he could've hit my child actually because the way he was standing and the way I'm walking to the driveway and my child is coming from straight ahead and they got my child in her hand, in they hand and they walking straight ahead. If I would've – **if they would've been walking faster** he definitely would got hit, somebody would've got hit. She would've got hit or my child, one of the two. Someone would've got hit right there.

R. p. 318, lines 7-15. Brown testified that after Victim shot at him, "that's when I reached in my pocket, jumped up, trying to look over that bush to tried to get him away, tried to get him away from, um, from where my children – shooting that way where my children out." R. p. 318, lines 20-23. Brown testified when he shot back, Victim began running away and "shot back." Brown moved over to a tree and shot two more times. R. p. 219, lines 6-10.

Brown testified he did not think anybody was shot at all, explaining, "He **missed me**. I missed him. And it shouldn't even never went that far anyway." R. p. 219, lines 17-18.

Jury instructions

The trial court instructed the jury on the element of criminal intent including the admonishment that criminal intent must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Part of this instruction was the directive: “[I]t is up to you to determine what the defendant had in mind based on the circumstances shown to [have] existed and I tell you the State must prove criminal intent like every other element beyond a reasonable doubt.” R. p. 401, lines 5-23.

This immediately preceded the instruction on self-defense which included the admonishment that the prosecution bore the burden of disproving self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court instructed the jury of the four elements of self-defense. R. pp. 403-05. Moreover, the trial court advised the jury that threats made by the victim may be considered in deciding if the defendant’s fear of death or bodily injury was also reasonable. R. p. 404, lines 8-13.

The trial court would later provide in its malice instruction that, “[M]alice must exist in the mind of the defendant just before and at the time that the act is committed.” R. p. 406, lines 2-4.

While instructing the jury of the duty to retreat, the trial court admonished the jury, “Now the defendant would have no duty to retreat, if by doing so, the danger of being killed or suffering serious bodily injury would have increased. You have a duty to retreat unless you own your own property or business. But if the situation is such that retreating would increase the danger of being killed or seriously bodily injury [sic], you don’t have a duty to retreat under those circumstances.” R. p. 404, line 19 – p. 405, line 1. The trial court proceeded to instruct the jury about how a person cannot be required to make an exact calculation of the degree of force “which may be needed to avoid death or serious bodily injury.” R. p. 405, lines 2-4.

Importantly, the trial court concluded the instruction on the degree of force with the admonishment, “If a defendant is justified in defending himself **or others** and in firing the first shot, then the defendant is also justified in continuing to shoot until it is apparent that the danger of death or serious bodily injury has completely ended.” R. p. 405, lines 12-16.

The jury went into deliberations and requested to hear instructions on the “four parts” of self-defense and the instruction on voluntary manslaughter. In response the trial court provided the jury with a shortened instruction on the elements of self-defense and also provided an instruction on voluntary manslaughter again. R. pp. 412-15.

Standard of review/jury instructions

The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 667 S.E.2d 728 (2008); State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). A jury instruction is sufficient if, when considered as a whole, it covers the law applicable to the case. State v. Burton, 302 S.C. 494, 397 S.E.2d 90 (1990). State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 547, 554, 446 S.E.2d 411, 415 (1994) (noting the substance of the law, not any particular verbiage, must be charged to the jury); State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 440 S.E.2d 869 (1994) (finding reversal is not warranted where the charge given is substantially correct and covers the applicable law).

A jury instruction must be viewed in the context of the overall charge. See State v. Hicks, 330 S.C. 207, 218, 499 S.E.2d 209, 215 (1998). While a court is not required to give any particular verbiage, instructions may not confuse or mislead the jury. State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). Indeed, the purpose of the instructions is to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict. Id.

If the instructions given to the jury afford the proper test for determining the issues, the failure to give one side's requested instructions is not prejudicial. State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 452, 529 S.E.2d 721, 728 (2000) *overruled on other grounds by* Rosemond v. Catoe, 383 S.C. 320, 680 S.E.2d 5 (2009). To warrant reversal, a trial court's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. State v. Burkhardt, 350 S.C. 252, 565 S.E.2d 298 (2002).

"Generally, an alleged error in a portion of a charge must be considered in light of the whole charge and must be prejudicial to the appellant to warrant a new trial." Priest v. Scott, 266 S.C. 321, 324, 223 S.E.2d 36, 38 (1976). The appellant's case must have been prejudiced in order to reverse an appellant's verdict on the basis of an erroneous jury charge. State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 415, 649 S.E.2d 41, 55 (Ct. App. 2007); Brown v. Pearson, 326 S.C. 409, 417, 483 S.E.2d 477, 481 (Ct. App. 1997) (holding "[a]n error not shown to be prejudicial does not constitute grounds for reversal").

Evidence failed to support a defense of others justification for a homicide

To be entitled to a charge on defense of others, the record must contain evidence that (1) defendant was lawfully defending a friend, relative, or bystander, and (2) the friend, relative, or bystander would likewise have the right to take the life of the assailant in self-defense. State v. Starnes, 340 S.C. 312, 322-23, 531 S.E.2d 907, 913 (2000). In order for a defendant to be entitled to a jury instruction on self-defense, evidence of the following four elements must be presented:

- (1) The defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty;
- (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury;
- (3) if his defense is based upon his

belief of imminent danger, defendant must show that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the belief that he was in actually in imminent danger and that the circumstances were such as would warrant a person of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or the loss of his life; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger.

State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 416, 535 S.E.2d 431, 434 (2000).

The defendant's right to act in defense of a third party is coextensive with the right of the third party to act in self-defense. For instance, in State v. Sales, 285 S.C. 113, 328 S.E.2d 619 (1985), evidence was presented that the defendant defended his sister when she was attacked by the victim in her own home. The Supreme Court found that the trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury that a person attacked in their own home has no duty to retreat. In reaching this conclusion, the Supreme Court observed:

The judge properly charged the jury that, under the law of self-defense, a person may not only take life in his own defense but also in defense of a relative. . . . He also correctly stated that the right to intervene to protect the relative is subject to the same limitations as the right of self-defense. He then charged the jury the four elements of self-defense

Id. at 114, 328 S.E.2d at 620. Observing a person attacked in their own premises without fault does not have a duty to retreat, the Supreme Court then concluded, "Therefore, the [defendant's] sister had no duty to retreat. The intervenor assumes the rights and limitations of the person he acts to protect." Id. (citing 40 C.J.S. Homicide § 108 (1944)).

Therefore, the justification of defense of others mirrors self-defense. See Commonwealth v. Arias, 997 N.E.2d 1200, 1209 (Mass. App. Ct. 2013) (finding jury instructions on defense of others that included trial judge's comments that "defense of another 'mirrors' self-defense" was a

correct statement of law). This holds true even though the third parties were Brown's children. See State v. Rodriguez, 822 So.2d 121, 138 (La. Ct. App. 2002) (The defendant argued the instruction that it must reasonably appear to the defendant that the other person could justifiably act in self-defense was erroneous because an infant could not be expected to pull out a gun and defend his life. The appellate court found the disputed portion of the charge was neither erroneous nor prejudicial).

First, there is no evidence Brown's child had no other probable means of avoiding the danger. The evidence at trial fails to suggest the child and attending adult could not have easily back-tracked to the house. As Brown testified, they would have been hit only if they had proceeded faster. It is unreasonable to believe that the attending adult would have hurried the children into the line of fire upon the outbreak of gunfire. Therefore, the danger to the children was not immediate. R. p. 318, lines 7-15. They did not proceed faster and the attack was not directed at them. Accordingly, the evidence fails to support that the third party had no other probable means of avoiding the danger, therefore, Brown could not stand in their shoes and assume the right to self-defense. The only evidence is that the right to defend was only for himself. If evidence is lacking supporting a single element of self-defense for the third party, then a defendant is not entitled to an instruction on defense of others. See State v. Lockamy, 369 S.C. 378, 631 S.E.2d 555 (Ct. App. 2006) (noting all four elements must exist for a defendant to be entitled to a self-defense instruction and concluding appellant was not entitled to an instruction on self-defense because the evidence failed to show the appellant did not have any other means to avoid the danger). In the instant case, Brown fails to offer evidence that the children and attending adults had no other means to avoid the danger, so the defense of others instruction is not warranted.

Moreover, Brown stated several times that Victim was shooting at him, but he never said Victim was shooting at his children. Because the only evidence is the attack was directed at Brown, and not his children, Brown is not entitled to an instruction on defense of others. In Bozeman v. State, 307 S.C. 172, 176, 414 S.E.2d 144, 146 (1992), the Supreme Court reviewed the denial of an ineffective assistance claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to request an instruction on defense of others. The Supreme Court found the instruction was not warranted because both the petitioner and his brother testified at trial that the victim swung his knife at petitioner and not petitioner's brother. In the instant case, the only evidence was Victim's alleged attack was directed at Brown – Brown testified the shots flew past his head.

For sure, the threat of harm to the third party must be immediate. Therefore, Brown's expressed concern for his children as a basis for returning to Freddie Williams' house does not present any evidence supporting defense of others. Their distant proximity to the shooting also fails to support a defense of others charge. In Commonwealth v. Okoro, 26 N.E.3d 1092, 1106 (Mass. 2015), Okoro claimed the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on defense of others, alleging there was evidence he was defending his sister, Strickland. The appellate court noted there was evidence that victim and victim's friend inflicted violence on Strickland on previous occasions and Okoro was aware of these incidents. Further, at the time a fight broke out between Okoro and the victim, Strickland was standing near him. The appellate court observed:

Considering this evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant, the jury could have reasonably concluded that the defendant was concerned for his sister's safety that evening, and that there was a general atmosphere of animosity and fear present. However, despite this atmosphere of animosity and the presence of the victim, [victim's friend], and Strickland, there was no evidence presented that suggested the victim or [victim's friend] directed any

immediate, physical threat toward Strickland that night during or prior to the fight between the defendant and the victim. None of the witnesses, including those favorable to the defendant, testified that the victim or anyone else appeared to be on the verge of striking or otherwise harming Strickland at the moment that the defendant and the victim began fighting.

Id. at 1106. See also Muschette v. United States, 936 A.2d 791, 799 (D.C. Ct. App. 2007) (finding defense of others instruction was not warranted because third party was not by defendant and victim when the shooting began, it was only when the defendant fled toward the third party that the third party felt he was in danger and fired his own gun. It was defendant who placed the third party at risk by running toward him and directing gunfire in his direction).

As in Okoro, it is perhaps understandable Brown was generally apprehensive about his children being left behind and generally concerned that gunfire presented a potentially unsafe situation. However, this concern was not immediate for Brown to justify his return to Freddie Williams' house and his return to the difficulty. Further, there is no testimony, as in Okoro, that the threat of harm to the children was immediate because the children, based on even Brown's own testimony, had not reached the line of fire when gunfire broke out – they did not walk fast enough by Brown's own admission.

Therefore, the trial court did not err in declining to instruct the jury on defense of others because Brown's testimony failed to present evidence that his children were ever the target of Victim's alleged attack and could have acted in self-defense of themselves. The danger to the children was never immediate and they could have avoided the difficulty by returning to the neighbor's house.

Brown was not prejudiced by the lack of an instruction on defense of others because the evidence showed his right to self-defense was coextensive, if not greater, than the third party's right to act in self-defense.

Further, Brown was not prejudiced by the lack of an instruction on defense of others. The ultimate question was whether Victim fired the first shot and Brown repeated several times that Victim fired at him and missed him, not his children. Either the jury believed Victim fired the first shot and Brown otherwise satisfied the elements of self-defense, or the jury believed Brown was the aggressor. Their verdict following the trial court's instructions on self-defense indicated the jury did not believe Brown. Brown therefore was not prejudiced by the lack of a defense of others instruction.

In Commonwealth v. Green, 770 N.E.2d 995, 997-98 (Mass. App. Ct. 2002), the victim, who the defendant alleged was the aggressor, approached defendant's house when Burton was on the front steps and defendant was by the front door. Defendant and victim exchanged fire while Burton scurried inside the house. The trial judge provided an instruction on self-defense, but denied the request for an instruction on defense of others. The Massachusetts Court of Appeals found error, noting the jury could conclude Burton "was in a more exposed position than the defendant when the shooting began" Id. at 999. However, the appellate court found the defendant was not prejudiced by the lack of an instruction on defense of others, noting the following:

In light of the jury's rejection of the defendant's self-defense argument, it is highly unlikely that they would have concluded that he was acting in defense of Burton even if they had been instructed on defense of another. As the jury failed to view the defendant's actions as justifiable for his own defense, there is no basis to

conclude that the jury would have considered those same actions justified when undertaken for the defense of another in the same circumstances.

Id. at 999-1000.

In the instant case, the jury did not view Brown's actions justifiable in his own defense; therefore, it is improbable the jury would believe that Brown's actions would be justifiable in his children's defense when the children were not even in the line of fire.

Hill v. State, 160 S.W.3d 855 (Mo. Ct. App. 2005) offers a helpful analysis. In that case, all the evidence indicated that the victim fired the first shot and Hill alleged he acted in self-defense. The events started when Hill and his three companions threw a gun and marijuana while followed by a police cruiser. They were able to go on their way after they were stopped and the officer checked the driver's license. Thereafter, they returned to the area where they previously dumped their contraband. Hill exited the vehicle while the others remained in the vehicle, and after victim approached, they exchanged gunfire. Hill's defense attorney requested an instruction on self-defense, but not defense of others. Hill contended that because his companions were behind Hill and exposed to gunfire, counsel was ineffective for not requesting an instruction for defense of others. The Missouri Court of Appeals concluded defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to request defense of others based on prejudice analysis.

In reaching this result, the Hill court examined State v. Jones, 627 S.W.2d 322 (Mo. Ct. App. 1982). In that case, a fight broke out between numerous relatives. Victim knocked defendant's sister to the ground and victim's wife attacked the sister with a wine bottle when the defendant fired a shot that killed victim. In Jones, it was reversible error for the trial court to decline a defense of others instruction because it was agreed victim was bent over the sister when

defendant entered the room and defendant yelled for them to stop, victim started for defendant. The court concluded, “If defendant’s evidence and that of his supporting witnesses were believed, the events occurred in rapid succession with little to differentiate [the victim’s] assault upon [the sister] from his transfer of attention to [the defendant]. Intervention by [the defendant] in the former brawl immediately provoked the latter, both being closely intertwined in time and situs. [The defendant] was entitled to the additional instruction on defense of another person *enabling the jury to consider both possibilities as justification for the use of deadly force.*” Hill, 160 S.W.2d at 861 (quoting Jones, 627 S.W.2d at 323-24) (emphasis supplied in Hill).

The Hill court then examined the facts of its own case and distinguished Jones as follows:

Unlike the Jones case where there were separate justification possibilities for the jury to consider, that situation is absent here. This follows because [Hill] and his companions were in the same line of fire. As such, [Hill’s] return of fire would have been in defense of both his companions and himself.

Under the circumstances, the jury’s answer to one question fully settled the justification issue, namely, was [Hill] the aggressor or was Victim the aggressor? This question was posed to the jury via the self-defense instruction which answered it adversely to [Hill] by convicting him. In contrast to the record in Jones, the record here contains no facts to support the notion that the jury’s resolution of the justification issue might have been different if the defense of others instruction had also been given.

Id. at 861-62.

In the instant case, if making the assumption the children were in the line of fire (despite the evidence), then Brown’s return of fire at Victim was in defense of himself and not just the children. Therefore, as in Hill, no facts support the notion that the jury’s resolution of the justification issue would be different with an additional instruction on defense of others. Brown was not prejudiced by the lack of an instruction on defense of others and Brown’s conviction and

sentence should be affirmed. Accordingly, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 319, 755 S.E.2d 432, 436 (2014) (finding error in failing to charge a lesser included offense was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt).

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.